RECEIVED 07-17-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2016AP000866-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DIAMOND J. ARBERRY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review from a Decision of the Court of Appeals Affirming a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying a Postconviction Motion Requesting Expungement Entered in the Fond du Lac County Circuit Court, the Honorable Peter L. Grimm, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

ELLEN J. KRAHN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085024

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. When the parties and the court overlook a defendant's eligibility for expungement at her sentencing hearing, can she present her eligibility as a "new factor?" If not, should courts be required to consider expungement for eligible defendants at sentencing?

The circuit court interpreted this court's opinion in *Matasek* to mean that eligibility for expungement could only be decided at the sentencing hearing, thus, it was barred from making such a determination at a postconviction hearing.

The court of appeals affirmed, holding that the circuit court's decision followed *Matasek*. In addition to holding *Matasek* barred Ms. Arberry's claim, the court of appeals was critical of whether Ms. Arberry provided sufficient factual support for her claim that the parties overlooked expungement, making it a new factor. Lastly, the court of appeals stated the circuit court had no duty to discuss expungement at sentencing unless requested to do so.

2. Did the circuit court err in its exercise of discretion when it denied expungement eligibility based on reasons that would apply to any case?

After denying Ms. Arberry's motion, the court stated that even if it would have considered expungement it would have denied eligibility. The court gave reasons for denying expungement that would have applied to any case such as, "convictions have consequences and they are of public record so that the public can protect themselves." (49:7).

The court of appeals did not address this issue because it decided that the circuit court could not make an eligibility finding at a postconviction hearing.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Given the court's grant of review, both oral argument and publication are warranted.

GOVERNING STATUTE

973.015 Special disposition.

(1m) (a) 1. Subject to subd. 2. and except as provided in subd. 3., when a person is under the age of 25 at the time of the commission of an offense for which the person has been found guilty in a court for violation of a law for which the maximum period of imprisonment is 6 years or less, the court may order at the time of sentencing that the record be expunged upon successful completion of the sentence if the court determines the person will benefit and society will not be harmed by this disposition. This subsection does not apply to information maintained by the department transportation regarding a conviction that is required to be included in a record kept under s. 343.23 (2) (a).

- 2. The court shall order at the time of sentencing that the record be expunged upon successful completion of the sentence if the offense was a violation of s. 942.08 (2) (b), (c), or (d) or (3), and the person was under the age of 18 when he or she committed it.
- 3. No court may order that a record of a conviction for any of the following be expunged:
- a. A Class H felony, if the person has, in his or her lifetime, been convicted of a prior felony offense, or if the felony is a violent offense, as defined in s. 301.048

- (2) (bm), or is a violation of s. 940.32, 948.03 (2) or (3), or 948.095.
- b. A Class I felony, if the person has, in his or her lifetime, been convicted of a prior felony offense, or if the felony is a violent offense, as defined in s. 301.048 (2) (bm), or is a violation of s. 948.23 (1) (a).
- (b) A person has successfully completed the sentence if the person has not been convicted of a subsequent offense and, if on probation, the probation has not been revoked and the probationer has satisfied the conditions of probation. Upon successful completion of the sentence the detaining or probationary authority shall issue a certificate of discharge which shall be forwarded to the court of record and which shall have the effect of expunging the record. If the person has been imprisoned, the detaining authority shall also forward a copy of the certificate of discharge to the department.

. . .

(3) A special disposition under this section is not a basis for a claim under s. 775.05.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 27, 2015, Ms. Arberry pled no contest to one count of retail theft as party to a crime contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.50(1m)(d), a Class I felony, and one count of attempted misdemeanor retail theft as party to a crime and as a repeater, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.50(1m)(b), a Class A misdemeanor. (25; App. 104-108).

The court accepted Ms. Arberry's pleas and proceeded directly to sentencing. On the first count, the court sentenced Ms. Arberry to one year of initial confinement followed by two years of extended supervision. On the second count, the

court imposed and stayed a prison sentence and ordered that Ms. Arberry be placed on probation for two years, consecutive to the prison term. (48:24). Neither the parties nor the court discussed or addressed expungement.

Ms. Arberry filed a postconviction motion asking the court to grant her eligibility for expungement. (29). The court held a hearing on the motion (49) and denied Ms. Arberry's request for expungement eligibility. (37). Ms. Arberry appealed. (39). The court of appeals affirmed. *State v. Arberry*, 2017 WI App 26, ¶5, 375 Wis. 2d 179, 895 N.W.2d 100. (App. 103). This court granted Ms. Arberry's petition for review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The charges in this case arose from an incident that occurred on May 13, 2015, not long before Ms. Arberry, then 18 years old, was set to graduate from high school. (48:15). On that day, Ms. Arberry's older sister and her sister's friend, Lyeshia Kittler, asked her if she wanted to go for a ride. (2:3). The three young women rode in Ms. Kittler's car and eventually made their way to Forest Mall in Fond du Lac, Wisconsin.

There, an employee of the Buckle Store saw three women trying to place merchandise in a purse in order to leave without paying for it. Police responded, confronted the women, and searched Ms. Kittler's vehicle where they found additional merchandise from retail stores in Green Bay and Oshkosh, Wisconsin. (2:3).

The state charged Ms. Arberry with five crimes in Fond du Lac County Case Number 15CF294. (2). Three of the charges alleged that Ms. Arberry was party to the crime of

theft or attempted theft. (2). The state noted at the preliminary hearing that it was "not alleged that [Ms. Arberry] fully participated as a sole actor." (46:7).

The parties reached a plea agreement and the case proceeded to sentencing. Both the defense and the state recommended county jail time as well as probation. (48:12). The state explained that it was not requesting a prison sentence because the offense was not drug-related and the items recovered were purses and clothing. (48:12). The state noted that this was not Ms. Arberry's first criminal conviction.

The defense explained that Ms. Arberry was a high school senior at the time of the offense. (48:15). Despite her youth, Ms. Arberry had a strong work history and had worked at McDonald's, Fed Ex, and done temp work. (48:13). Most recently, she had been a healthcare assistant at a nursing home. (48:13).

During her senior year, Ms. Arberry became pregnant. She returned to school just two weeks after giving birth in order to stay on track with her schoolwork and to work toward graduating with her class. (48:13). At the time of the offenses, Ms. Arberry did not have money to pay the \$95 fee required to obtain a cap and gown for her graduation ceremony. Therefore, the defense argued that although not planned, Ms. Arberry's crime was economically motivated. (48:15).

At sentencing, the court acknowledged Ms. Arberry's youth and impulsivity, but was also concerned about her repeater status and the fact that items were taken from more than one store. (48:21-22). The court declined to impose a jail sentence, citing concerns that, given the other sentences she was serving, she would "hopscotch" to various county jails.

(48:23). Ultimately, the court imposed a prison sentence noting, "I don't want to bury her in prison at all, but I want to give her the tools and abilities for long-term success and outcomes." (48:24).

The parties did not discuss whether Ms. Arberry should be made eligible for expungement. Ms. Arberry filed a postconviction motion seeking a determination that her record could be expunged upon the successful completion of her sentences. (29). Ms. Arberry argued that the parties overlooked making the eligibility determination at the time of sentencing. Ms. Arberry's postconviction motion suggested that this may have been because of the recent clarification by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in State v. Matasek1 that a determination of eligibility for expungement is to be made at the time of sentencing.

The court denied the motion and stated the following:

All Right. Thank you. The Court appreciates that the extent of the question has now been interrupted (sic) and ruled upon. While there are various efforts to amend the statute or propose new language to amend the statute, that doesn't seem to be going very far in the Legislature. And I have taken an interest in that but the Court nonetheless is constrained by the statute. It does require the matter to be granted at the time of the sentencing. If somebody would have asked me about it, I would have said, well, no, she's not getting expungement. Granted, no one brought it up. I don't think as a judge, I have to say no when no one has asked me to say no or asked me to grant it. So I think technically the motion is barred by the case law that's been rendered.

- 6 -

¹ State v. Matasek, 2014 WI 27, 353 Wis. 2d 601, 846 N.W.2d 811.

And my second ruling would be that, on the merits, even if I were to consider or think about it – and I can be honest and I can tell you that if you would have asked me at sentencing, I would have said no. And I'm also going to say no today for the reason that convictions have consequences and they are of public record so that the public can protect themselves. The public has the right to know who commits what crimes so that they can make decisions to decide how to best interact with an individual for their own mutual decisions of mutual benefit of commerce or trade or employment or otherwise.

We have laws that prevent discrimination for these convictions. And I'm all for rehabilitation and people paying their debts back to society. And I know many employers who hire people with records. So I think the merits of the motion as addressed nonetheless with the statute and the case law, I would in my discretion deny the motion on the merits. This also I think is blocked or barred per the statute and the case law that has interpreted the statute. So either way, it's the same result. Motion denied.

(49:6-8; App. 114-116).

The court of appeals affirmed. It was not convinced that the issue of expungement was overlooked and determined that *Matasek* meant that the circuit court was barred from determining expungement eligibility at a postconviction hearing. *Arberry*, 2017 WI App 26, ¶4-5. (App. 102-103) It further concluded that it is not a mandatory duty of the court to consider expungement at sentencing. *Id.*, ¶4.

ARGUMENT

I. When the Parties and the Court Overlooked Expungement at Her Sentencing Hearing, Ms. Arberry Should Have Had an Opportunity to Bring the Issue before the Court, Either through a Sentence Modification Motion Based on a New Factor, or Because Courts Should be Required to Address Expungement at Sentencing Whenever a Defendant Is Eligible.

A. Introduction and Summary of Argument.

In Wisconsin, young defendants convicted of less serious crimes are eligible to have their records expunged upon successful completion of their sentences. Wis. Stat. § 973.015. There are three specific statutory requirements a defendant needs to meet in order to be eligible. First, a defendant must be under the age of 25 at the time of the commission of the offense. Wis. Stat. § 973.015 (1m)(a)1. Second, the defendant must have been found guilty of a crime that carries a maximum penalty of six years or less. Wis. Stat. § 973.015 (1m)(a)1. Third, if the defendant is convicted of a Class H or I felony, they must not have been convicted of a prior felony or have committed a violent offense. Wis. Stat. § 973.015 (1m)(a)3a&b.

For this limited class of eligible defendants, the benefits of expungement are significant. Wisconsin Statute § 973.015, the "expungement statute," allows circuit courts to "shield youthful offenders from some of the harsh consequences of criminal convictions," *State v. Leitner*, 2002 WI 77, ¶38, 253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341, citing *State v. Anderson*, 160 Wis. 2d 435, 440, 446 N.W.2d 681 (Ct. App. 1991), by expunging the record of their conviction. "Expungement offers young offenders a fresh start without

the burden of a criminal record and a chance at becoming law-abiding and productive members of the community. Expungement allows individual defendants a chance to move past the barriers that can be created by a criminal record by giving them an 'incentive to rehabilitate,' which, in turn, 'promotes the public's safety.'" *State v. Hemp*, 2014 WI 129, ¶19, 359 Wis. 2d 320, 856 N.W.2d 811.

In *State v. Matasek*, 2014 WI 27, 353 Wis. 2d 601, 846 N.W.2d 811, this court resolved the issue of when a circuit court must exercise its discretion regarding whether a defendant is eligible for expungement, noting that some counties had been handling it differently than others. *Id.*, ¶5. In doing so, this court interpreted the following portion of the expungement statute:

...when a person is under the age of 25 at the time of the commission of an offense for which the person has been found guilty in a court for violation of a law for which the maximum period of imprisonment is 6 years or less, the court may order at the time of sentencing that the record be expunged upon successful completion of the sentence if the court determines that the person will benefit and society will not be harmed by this disposition...

Wis. Stat. §973.015(1m)(a)1.

In *Matasek*, this court held that a decision on whether or not to grant expungement must be made at the time of sentencing rather than upon completion of the sentence. This court agreed that there were policy reasons for permitting the circuit court to decide whether to grant expungement after the offender completes his or her sentence rather than at the time of sentencing. 353 Wis. 2d 601, ¶41. However, this court held that the plain language of the statute requires that "if a

circuit court is going to exercise its discretion to expunge a record, the discretion must be exercised at the sentencing proceeding." *Id.*, ¶45.

This case asks this court to determine if Ms. Arberry can bring a motion for sentence modification, arguing that her eligibility is a "new factor." This question should be answered "yes" because this statute does not limit itself to the original sentencing hearing and issues that are required to be resolved at sentencing may still be addressed in motions for sentence modification.

Further, if this court does not allow Ms. Arberry to raise this issue as a "new factor," this court should rule that circuit courts are required to consider expungement for eligible defendants in order to ensure that eligible defendants have the opportunity to have a court consider whether an eligible defendant's record can be expunged.

Finally, this case asks this court to determine whether the court properly exercised its discretion in denying expungement. This court should conclude that the circuit court erred in its exercise of discretion when it did not apply the law to the facts of Ms. Arberry's case and instead provided a reason that would be used to deny expungement in any case, in effect creating a personal sentencing policy contrary to law.

B. Ms. Arberry met her burden to show that her eligibility for expungement is a new factor because it was unknowingly overlooked and highly relevant to her sentence.

Ms. Arberry's eligibility for expungement is a new factor that warrants modification of her sentence.

Circuit courts have inherent authority to modify criminal sentences. *State v. Hegwood*, 113 Wis. 2d 544, 546, 335 N.W.2d 399 (1983). The power is exercised "to prevent the continuation of unjust sentences." *State v. Crochiere*, 2004 WI 78, ¶11, 273 Wis. 2d 57, 681 N.W.2d 524. With a few exceptions, a court may modify a sentence and rectify an unjust sentence only if the defendant proves a new factor.² A new factor is defined as:

"a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties."

State v. Harbor, 2011 WI 28, ¶40, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828, quoting Rosado v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975). If the defendant establishes a new factor, the court must determine, in its exercise of discretion, whether modification of the sentence is warranted. Harbor, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶37.

Whether information presented by the defendant constitutes a new factor is a question of law reviewed independently by this court. *Id.*, ¶33. But whether a new factor justifies sentence modification is a matter within the circuit court's discretion. *Id.*

Here, because the circuit court did not believe it could rule on expungement at a postconviction hearing, it did not

² A court may also modify a sentence to correct a legal error or because the sentence is unduly harsh or unconscionable. *State v. Stenklyft*, 2005 WI 71, ¶¶60 & 115, 281 Wis. 2d 484, 697 N.W.2d 769. However, [i]f there are cases that overturn a sentence" on the latter ground "they are few and far between." *Id.* at ¶115.

make an explicit ruling about whether or not Ms. Arberry's eligibility for expungement was unknowingly overlooked at her sentencing hearing. The record shows that it was.

Both the transcripts of the plea and sentencing hearing, as well as the postconviction motion, demonstrate that the parties and the court overlooked Ms. Arberry's eligibility for expungement. It was not part of the plea agreement. (48:4). Neither party mentioned expungement while arguing for the joint sentencing recommendation. (48:11-17). Nor did the court make any mention of Ms. Arberry's eligibility for expungement when it discussed the rationale for the sentence it imposed. (48:20-25).

In fact, Ms. Arberry does meet the statutory criteria to be eligible for expungement. Ms. Arberry was convicted of a Class I felony and a Class A Misdemeanor, both offenses that carry a maximum penalty of less than six years of imprisonment. Ms. Arberry was under 25 at the time of the offense. Ms. Arberry's date of birth is September 21, 1996. (25:App. 101). Ms. Arberry was convicted of a felony in this case, but had not been convicted of a felony in any previous case. (48:8, 14). Therefore, it is clear that Ms. Arberry was in fact eligible for expungement. *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1)(a).

At the postconviction hearing, while the state argued against expungement, it did not argue that Ms. Arberry's eligibility had ever been brought up or considered. The court was even more clear in acknowledging that expungement was not considered when it stated, "If somebody would have asked me about it, I would have said, well, no, she's not getting expungement. Granted, no one brought it up. I didn't bring it up." (49:7 (emphasis added)). These facts of record establish that Ms. Arberry's eligibility for expungement was unknowingly overlooked.

In *State v. Ralph*, 156 Wis.2d 433, 546 N.W.2d 657, (1990), the prosecutor informed the circuit court about the sentencing recommendations he was making for Mr. Ralph's accomplices at the time of Mr. Ralph's sentencing. However, neither party informed the court that one of Mr. Ralph's accomplices had previously been imprisoned. This information was presented to the court in the form of a "new factor" motion for sentence modification. The court of appeals concluded that the accomplice's "prior jail term is a new factor. No party mentioned that factor at the sentencing hearing. All parties unknowingly overlooked that factor." Id., 438. This was so because even though the fact that the accomplice had been previously imprisoned was in existence at the time of sentencing and the parties could have discovered that fact, the parties overlooked it. So, in *Ralph* it was deemed sufficient to show that a fact that was in existence at the time of sentencing was not brought up at sentencing in order to prove it was a new factor.

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