#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 09-12-2017

### IN SUPREME COUR PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP866-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DIAMOND J. ARBERRY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM A COURT OF APPEALS DECISION AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND A DECISION DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE FOND DU LAC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PETER L. GRIMM, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

CHRISTINE A. REMINGTON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1046171

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

### I. This Court should hold that a defendant cannot seek eligibility for expungement through a motion for sentence modification.

Eligibility for expungement cannot be a new factor that entitles a defendant to sentence modification. Simply because the court did not address expungement does not mean that it was overlooked by the court and all parties at sentencing. Eligibility for expungement is not a fact or set of facts highly relevant to a sentence, but it is instead a discretionary determination that the circuit court makes at sentencing. Thus, a defendant's eligibility for expungement cannot meet the definition of a new factor.

To allow defendants to use a sentence modification motion for this purpose would run contrary to the legislative intent of Wis. Stat. § 973.015. Moreover, the burden should remain with the defendant to raise the issue of expungement at sentencing, rather than impose a new obligation on the circuit court.

Therefore, the circuit court properly denied Arberry's motion. The court of appeals reached the proper conclusion when it affirmed the circuit court's decision. This Court should also affirm.

# A. A circuit court can consider whether the defendant should be afforded the opportunity for expungement only at sentencing.

For a defendant to be eligible for expungement, he or she must pass two hurdles: he or she must satisfy statutory eligibility requirements, and the court must exercise its discretion and declare him or her eligible for expungement. To be statutorily eligible for expungement, an offender must be under 25 at the time the offense was committed. Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(a)1.1 The offense may be a class H or class I felony if the person has not previously been convicted of a felony, and the felony is not a violent offense. Wis. JI-Criminal SM-36 (2013).

If a defendant meets these statutory criteria, he or she may ask the circuit court, in its discretion, to "order at the time of sentencing that the record be expunged upon successful completion of the sentence." Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(a)1. The circuit court may grant eligibility for expungement at sentencing when it determines that the defendant will benefit and society will not be harmed by it. *Id*.

The Legislature did not require the circuit court to consider expungement automatically whenever a defendant meets the statutory criteria. But when a circuit court choses to address eligibility for expungement, the court must make the decision at the sentencing hearing. *State v. Matasek*, 2014 WI 27, ¶ 44, 353 Wis. 2d 601, 846 N.W.2d 811.

The circuit court needs to consider eligibility for expungement at sentencing to create a meaningful incentive for the offender to avoid reoffending. *Matasek*, 353 Wis. 2d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On February 21, 2017, a group of legislators introduced 2017 Senate Bill 53. If passed, that bill would significantly amend Wis. Stat. § 973.015. It has not passed as of this filing.

601, ¶ 43. Wisconsin Stat. § 973.015 does not authorize circuit courts to take a wait-and-see approach. *State v. Hemp*, 2014 WI 129, ¶ 42, 359 Wis. 2d 320, 856 N.W.2d 811.

## B. A court's silence on eligibility for expungement at sentencing can never be a new factor justifying sentence modification.

A defendant cannot make an end run around section 973.015 and *Matasek*'s requirements that a court may only consider expungement eligibility at sentence by doing what Arberry did here, i.e., filing a new-factor motion for sentence modification based on the court's silence on eligibility for expungement. Attempting to apply the law governing new factor claims to the facts here demonstrates that eligibility for expungement can never be a new factor.

A new factor is a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the sentence, but not known by the circuit court at the original sentencing, "either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." *Rosado v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975).

# 1. A court's silence on eligibility for expungement at sentencing alone cannot show that all the parties overlooked it.

Only a small group of offenders are eligible for expungement. The Legislature chose not to require circuit courts to discuss expungement in every situation where a defendant meets the statutory criteria. Instead, circuit courts have discretion about whether to even discuss expungement at sentencing. And the court may consider and reject expungement without discussing it on the record. Therefore, silence alone is insufficient to demonstrate that the parties

and court unknowingly overlooked eligibility for expungement.

Here, the court did not discuss eligibility for expungement. But that, without more, is not evidence that the court and parties overlooked it. As the court of appeals said, "There is no indication that the [circuit] court, much less the prosecutor, or even Arberry's counsel, overlooked expungement." *Arberry*, 375 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 4.

A court's mere silence on eligibility for expungement can occur for any number of reasons that have nothing to do with anyone unknowingly overlooking it. The silence could exist where the court recognized that the defendant was statutorily eligible, it considered whether to order him or her eligible, and it decided against ordering eligibility, but did not discuss it on the record because neither party so requested. Likewise, the silence could exist if the State could have considered whether to recommend it and decided not to, therefore never raising it at sentencing. It could exist when the State and defendant discussed expungement and agreed not to make the request as part of the joint sentencing recommendation. Moreover, it could exist where the defendant agreed to not seek eligibility at sentencing because he or she agreed not to as part of the plea agreement or sentencing strategy.

Arberry argues that her eligibility for expungement was overlooked simply because it was not discussed at sentencing. (Arberry's Br. 12–13.) But if the parties want to ensure that the court considers eligibility for expungement, they must ask that it do so at sentencing. See Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m). And while the circuit court may sua sponte raise the issue of eligibility for expungement, it is not required to consider it at sentencing in every case where the defendant is statutorily eligible. See Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m).

Moreover, Arberry could have asked the court to deem her eligible for expungement, but she did not. Most likely, the court did not discuss expungement at sentencing because the parties and court recognized that Arberry presented a high risk to reoffend and was not a good candidate for it. (R. 48:22.) Arberry fails to show that her eligibility for expungement was overlooked by all parties at sentencing.

2. Whether a defendant should be eligible for expungement can never be a fact or set of facts highly relevant to a sentence.

Whether a circuit court grants or denies eligibility for expungement can never be a fact highly relevant to a defendant's sentence, because it is a discretionary decision, not a fact. *See Rosado*, 70 Wis. 2d at 288.

To meet the criteria for sentence modification, a defendant must point to a fact or set of facts not known to the court at sentencing. A fact is "a piece of information presented as having objective reality." *See Fact*, https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/fact (last visited August 31, 2017).

A judicial determination on eligibility for expungement is not a fact. Expungement of a record is defined as, "The removal of a conviction (esp. for a first offense) from a person's criminal record." *Expungement of Record*, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). It is different from other cases where courts have found a new factor justified sentence modification.

For example, in *State v. Ralph*, 156 Wis. 2d 433, 435–36, 456 N.W.2d 657 (Ct. App. 1990), the fact that justified sentence modification was that the circuit court did not know that one of Ralph's codefendant's had a prior record, when Ralph did not. *Id.* The codefendant's prior record is a piece of information with an objective reality.

Likewise, in *State v. Boyden*, 2012 WI App 38, ¶ 7, 340 Wis. 2d 155, 814 N.W.2d 505, the court found that the defendant's prior assistance to federal law enforcement was a fact that justified sentence modification. Whether Boyden provided assistance is either true or false and is a fact.

Other situations where the courts have identified new factors include: the untreatable nature of an inmate's mental condition, *State v. Sepulveda*, 119 Wis. 2d 546, 560–61, 350 N.W.2d 96 (1984); a potential conflict of interest of the mental health professional who conducted the psychological assessment of a convicted defendant for the sentencing court, *State v. Stafford*, 2003 WI App 138, ¶17, 265 Wis. 2d 886, 667 N.W.2d 370; and a convicted defendant's post-sentencing voluntary submission to revocation of his parole based on erroneous advice from his probation agent, *State v. Norton*, 2001 WI App 245, ¶16, 248 Wis. 2d 162, 635 N.W.2d 656.

Arberry's so-called fact—that she was statutorily eligible for expungement—does not involve "pieces of information" like a defendant's prior record or a defendant's assistance to law enforcement, because actual eligibility for expungement requires circuit court's discretionary decision whether to make a defendant eligible for expungement. That discretionary decision is just that—a decision. It is not a fact.

Moreover, even if statutory eligibility for expungement could be a fact, here, it is not highly relevant to Arberry's sentence. The circuit court considered Arberry's risk to the public to be "sky high." (R. 48:22.) The court considered it aggravating that Arberry obstructed the police after she was caught stealing and that she was on probation when she committed these crimes. (R. 48:21–22.) The court believed that when she finished her sentence, Arberry would continue to reoffend. (R. 48:23.)

In other words, the court recognized that Arberry is not the type of defendant that the Legislature wanted to protect from the harsh consequences of a criminal conviction. This was not her first time committing a crime. She committed multiple retail thefts across multiple counties. She was on probation. She presented a high risk to the public safety.

Arberry argues that eligibility for expungement was highly relevant because it would likely benefit Arberry's future changes of success. (Arberry's Br. 14.) But that reasoning could apply to any defendant who satisfies the statutory criteria. Moreover, Arberry necessarily ignores the facts that make her a poor candidate for expungement eligibility, i.e., her prior record and rapid reoffense here. In all, eligibility for expungement, here, is not highly relevant to a court's sentence. Therefore, a new factor sentence modification motion is not available to defendants seeking this relief for the first time postconviction.

3. To allow defendants to use sentence modification motions for this purpose would undermine the intent and purpose behind Wis. Stat. § 973.015.

Using a new-factor sentence modification motion in this circumstance is not just a bad fit with the new factor standard. To allow a defendant to argue that eligibility for expungement is a new factor entitling him or her to sentence modification would create a huge loophole counter to the legislative policy reasons behind the enactment of Wis. Stat. § 973.015.

The Legislature allows the circuit courts to "order at the time of sentencing that the record be expunged upon successful completion of the sentence if the court determines the person will benefit and society will not be harmed." Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(a)1. It requires courts to make the

decision about expungement at the sentencing hearing. Matasek, 353 Wis. 2d 601, ¶ 44. And it does not authorize circuit courts to take a wait-and-see approach. Hemp, 359 Wis. 2d 320, ¶ 42.

Generally, defendants who are granted the option of expungement serve relatively short sentences by virtue of the fact that they satisfy the statutory criteria in the first place, i.e., they are young offenders who have committed low-level felonies. Given the amount of time that passes from the filing of a postconviction motion until a decision, Arberry's claim would essentially allow courts to consider expungement after a defendant serves a sentence. That is contrary to the legislative purpose of the expungement statute. The statute reads: "[T]he court may order at the time of sentencing that the record be expunged." Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(a)1. It does not read: The court may order at the time of sentencing or postconviction that the record be expunged. This Court should refuse to read that text into the statute.

Indeed, this Court refused to do so in *Matasek*. *Matasek*, 353 Wis. 2d 601, ¶ 20. Rather, this Court wrote that the statute's requirement that a court determine expungement eligibility at sentencing "is not contrary to the purpose of the statute and does not produce an unreasonable or absurd result." *Id.* ¶ 42. The legislative purpose—to shield some youthful offenders from some of the harsh consequences of criminal convictions—can be met by requiring courts to make a decision on expungement at sentencing. *Id.* ¶ 43. The court can create a meaningful incentive for the offender to avoid reoffending. *Id.* If an offender is uncertain about his or her eligibility for expungement, that uncertainty might provide a weaker incentive to successfully complete the sentence. *Id.* 

Arberry's reading also runs contrary to this Court's goal to strive where possible "to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage." See State ex rel. Kalal v.

Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. By including the phrase "at the time of sentencing" the Legislature intended to require the circuit court make the decision at sentencing. To read the statute any other way would make that phrase surplusage.

Arberry asserts that this Court's decision in *Matasek* did not bar her sentence modification motion. (Arberry's Br. 15.) Arberry cites the State's brief in *Matasek* as support for this argument. (Arberry's Br. 16–17.) Arberry mischaracterizes the State's argument.

Before the *Matasek* decision, some circuit courts in Wisconsin delayed expungement eligibility decisions until after the defendant completed his or her sentence. In *Matasek*, the State argued that that practice was contrary to the statute, and the supreme court agreed. The State also argued that, in those cases where the circuit court erroneously interpreted the law, defendants could bring sentence modification motions on the grounds that the circuit court considered inaccurate information at sentencing. *See* State's Br. 17, *Matasek*, 353 Wis. 2d 601 (No. 2012AP1582-CR).<sup>2</sup> The State's argument was limited to cases where the record showed that the circuit court erroneously believed it could delay its decision on expungement, not situations like Arberry's where the court was silent regarding expungement.

Arberry also asserts that the circuit court can consider expungement eligibility in a postconviction motion because it can consider CIP or ERP eligibility in postconviction motions. (Arberry's Br. 17–18.) But eligibility for expungement is different from CIP and ERP. By statute, the circuit court must

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Available at: https://acefiling.wicourts.gov/documents/show\_any\_doc?appId=wscca&docSource=EFile&p%5bcaseNo%5d=2012AP00 1582&p%5bdocId%5d=106881&p%5beventSeqNo%5d=55&p%5bs ectionNo%5d=1.

consider both CIP and ERP eligibility at sentencing. See Wis. Stat. § 973.01(3g), (3m). Therefore, a defendant can challenge the court's failure to comply with a mandatory duty through a postconviction motion. In contrast, consideration of expungement is not a mandatory duty, nor should it be, as explained below.

## 4. The defendant, not the circuit court, has an obligation to raise the question of expungement at sentencing.

A defendant cannot fail to raise expungement at sentencing while hoping to obtain it through a sentence modification motion. When a defendant wants the circuit court to make her eligible for expungement, she must ask for it at the sentencing hearing. Wis. JI-Criminal SM-36. Then the defendant retains the option of challenging the circuit court's failure to order expungement eligibility as an erroneous exercise of its sentencing discretion through a postconviction motion under Wis. Stat. §§ 809.30 or 973.19.

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